Top Curr Chem (2009) 288: 109–120 DOI: 10.1007/128\_2008\_10 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009 Published online: 25 October 2008

# **Carbohydrate Receptors of Bacterial Adhesins: Implications and Reflections**

## K. Ohlsen, T. A. Oelschlaeger, J. Hacker, and A. S. Khan

Abstract Bacteria entering a host depend on adhesins to achieve colonization. Adhesins are bacterial surface structures mediating binding to host surficial areas. Most adhesins are composed of one or several proteins. Usually a single bacterial strain is able to express various adhesins. The adhesion type expressed may influence host-, tissue or even cell tropism of Gram-negative and of Gram-positive bacteria. The binding of fimbrial as well as of afimbrial adhesins of Gram-negative bacteria to host carbohydrate structures (=receptors) has been elucidated in great detail. In contrast, in Gram-positives, most well studied adhesins bind to proteinaceous partners. Nevertheless, for both bacterial groups the binding of bacterial adhesins to eukaryotic carbohydrate receptors is essential for establishing colonization or infection. The characterization of this interaction down to the submolecular level provides the basis for strategies to interfere with this early step of infection which should lead to the prevention of subsequent disease. However, this goal will not be achieved easily because bacterial adherence is not a monocausal event but rather mediated by a variety of adhesins.

Keywords Adhesins, (A)fimbrial, Pili, Receptors, Anti-adhesion strategies

#### Contents

1	Introduction	110	
2	Bacterial Adhesins and Carbohydrate Host Receptors	110	
3	Type 1 Pili	111	
4	P Fimbriae	112	
5	S Fimbriae	113	
6	Other Adhesins of Gram-Negative Bacteria	113	
7	Adhesins of Gram-Positive Bacteria	113	
8	Adhesins of Streptococcus	114	
9	Adhesins of Staphylococcus	115	
10	Implication in Antimicrobial Activity	116	
11	Final Reflections	116	
Ref	References		

K. Ohlsen, T.A. Oelschlaeger (💌), J. Hacker, and A.S. Khan Institut für Molekulare Infektionsbiologie, Röntgenring 11, 97070 Würzburg e-mail: t.oelschlaeger@mail.uni-wuerzburg.de

## 1 Introduction

Microorganisms, such as the bacteria which colonize the gut, are known to be beneficial for host fitness (commensal). However, under certain conditions some of them acquire virulence-associated genes by horizontal gene transfer, become pathogenic and cause disease [1, 2]. In order to cause disease, bacteria must gain access into the host body and must be able to colonize the appropriate niche [3]. To colonize host mucosal surfaces, microorganisms have developed the capacity to produce surface molecules which enable them to adhere to the host cells and tissues [4]. Adhesion protects bacteria against natural cleaning mechanisms of the host, such as peristalsis of the intestine, coughing, airflow in the respiratory tract or the flow of urine through the urinary tract, and provides better access to the sources of nutrition [5]. It also facilitates the delivery of toxic agents and invasion of the bacteria into host tissues and cells. Many of the adhesive surface molecules expressed by bacteria are carbohydrate-binding proteins (lectins) called adhesins. Adhesins bind to the complementary carbohydrate receptors of the host cell membrane glycoproteins or glycolipids and determine the species specificity of pathogens [6, 7] and their preference for certain host cell or tissue types (tropism). For example, 987P and K99 fimbriated strains of enterotoxigenic E. coli can cause diarrhea in piglets, but not in adult pigs or humans [8-10]. Alternatively, host cells also express various cell surface molecules (lectins) that bind carbohydrates present on the surface of other cells or bacteria. The specific interactions between adhesins (lectins) and glycans are also crucial in cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, signaling, differentiation and development [11]. Several other types of infectious agents such as viruses [12], fungi, e.g. Candida albicans [13] and amoebal parasite, e.g. Acanthamoeba [14] also require carbohydrate-mediated adherence for infection.

## 2 Bacterial Adhesins and Carbohydrate Host Receptors

Bacteria are capable to avoid successfully the mechanical defences of the host by specifically adhering to host cell surface carbohydrates linked to glycoproteins or to glycolipids. Adhesion is mediated either by hair-like hetero- or homopolymeric bacterial surface appendages called fimbriae, fibrils or pili, or by nonfimbrial adhesins. The adhesive subunit of heteropolymeric adhesins is in most cases located at the tip of these hair like structures [15, 16]. The expression of these adhesion determinants is not constitutive but dependent on, e.g. growth conditions. Thus, the bacteria may shift periodically back and forth between a fimbriated and non-fimbriated state. This phenomenon is known as phase variation. Moreover, an individual bacterium is capable to express either various types of fimbrial adhesins or different alleles of the same adhesin with different carbohydrate receptor specificities or affinities. For example, uropathogenic *E. coli* strain 536 (O6:K15: H31] has been shown to produce various types of fimbrial adhesins, including type 1,

Organism	Target tissue	Carbohydrate	Structure
E. coli Type 1	Urinary	Mana3Mana6Man	GP
E. coli P	Urinary	Galα4Gal	GL
E. coli S	Neural	NeuAc (α2-3)Galβ3GalNAc	GL
E. coli CFA/1	Intestinal	NeuAc ( $\alpha$ 2-8)	GP
E. coli F1C	Urinary	GalNAcβ4Galβ	GL
E. coli F17	Urinary	GlcNAc	GP
E. coli K1	Endothelial	GlcNAcβ4GlcNAc	GP
E. coli K99	Intestinal	NeuAc(α2-3)Galβ4Glc	GL
C. jejuni	Intestinal	Fucα2GalβGlcNAc	GP
H. pylori	Stomach	NeuAc(α2-3)Galβ4GlcNAc	GP
1.		Fucα2Galβ3(Fucα4)Gal	GP
K. pneumoniae	Respiratory	Man	GP
N. gonorrhoea	Genital	Galβ4Glc(NAc)	GL
N. meningitidis	Respiratory	[NeuAc( $\alpha 2$ -3)]	GL
0	1 0	Galβ4GlcNAcβ3Galβ4GlcNAc	
P. aeruginosa	Respiratory	L-Fuc	GP
0	Respiratory	Gal B3Glc(NAc) B3Gal B4Glc	GL
S. typhimurium	Intestinal	Man	GP
S. pneumoniae	Respiratory	NeuAcα2-3Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-	GL
*	1 9	3Galβ1-4Glc	
S. suis	Respiratory	Galα4Galβ4Glc	GL

 Table 1
 Carbohydrates as attachment sites for bacterial pathogens on animal tissues (Adapted from [19])

GP = glycoprotein, GL = glycolipids

P-related (Prf) and S-fimbriae [17]. P fimbriae of uropathogenic *E. coli* strains present three known classes of adhesin variants namely PapGI, PapGII, and PapGIII with different binding properties [18].

Although various adhesins of pathogenic bacteria have been identified (Table 1), only a small number of bacterial adhesins together with their host carbohydrate receptors has been well studied at the molecular level. For example, two fimbrial adhesins namely FimH and PapG of uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC) strains and adhesin F17-G of enterotoxigenic *E. coli* [20] have been crystallized and their three-dimensional structures have been elucidated [15, 21, 22]. Several other frequently expressed fimbrial adhesins of UPEC such as members of the S-fimbrial family which includes among others S-fimbria subtypes SfaI and SfaII and F1C fimbriae have also been well characterized and their host receptors were identified [23].

## 3 Type 1 Pili

FimH is the mannose-specific adhesive subunit of type 1 fimbriae and located at the tip of this organelle [24]. However, its presence in the fimbrial shaft has also been described which only becomes active upon fragmentation of the fimbrial shaft which in turn leads to the exposure of the binding site [25]. In addition to UPEC strains, type 1 fimbriae are expressed by a large number of other *E. coli* isolates,

e.g. from intestinal infections [4, 18]. They are also produced by other enterobacterial species such as *K. pneumoniae, Salmonella typhimurium* and *S. enteritidis*. On the basis of different affinities towards its natural receptor mannose or methyl  $\alpha$ -mannoside, phenotypes of *E. coli* type 1 can be functionally subdivided into either high mannose-binding (MIH) or low mannose-binding (MIL) phenotypes [26]. Most isolates from the large intestine of healthy humans (around 80%) express a distinct MIL phenotype, whereas most isolates from urinary tract infections (more than 70%) express MIH variants [19]. Minor sequence variation in the FimH protein from different clinical isolates has been shown to be responsible for this altered carbohydrate-binding profile of the fimbriae [26].

Although the monosaccharide mannose linked to glycoproteins is the receptor for type 1 fimbriae of *E. coli* these fimbriae show a 40-fold higher affinity for oligosaccharides such as Man $\alpha$ 3Man $\beta$ 4GlcNAc or Man $\alpha$ 6(Man $\alpha$ 3) Man $\alpha$ 6(Man $\alpha$ 3)Man which are constituents of cell surface glycoproteins [27]. Similarly, the FimH subunits of *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* while being 88% homologous differ in their relative affinity for Man $\alpha$ 3Man $\beta$ 4GlcNAc and *p*-nitrophenyl  $\alpha$ -mannosides [28, 29]. In addition, type 1 fimbriae of *Salmonella* species do not exhibit an enhanced affinity for mannose with hydrophobic substituents or for Man $\alpha$ 3Man $\beta$ 4GlcNAc [19].

X-ray analysis of the three-dimensional structure of FimC (this is the chaperon)– FimH (the adhesin) in complex with C-HEGA an analog of  $\alpha$ -mannoside [15], with  $\alpha$ -mannoside [30] and with  $\alpha$ -butyl-mannoside [31] showed that a large portion of mannose surface is buried in the negatively charged binding cavity of the FimH lectin and it is involved in hydrogen bonding with combining site residues. The binding cavity is surrounded by a hydrophobic ridge which is responsible for the enhanced binding of hydrophobic mannose conjugates [30, 31]. It could be that the binding site of *Salmonella* FimH is smaller than that of *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* and is devoid of the hydrophobic ridge and hence does not exhibit an enhanced affinity for mannose with hydrophobic substituents or for Man $\alpha$ 3Man $\beta$ 4GlcNAc. Furthermore, recent studies involving the type 1 fimbriae of *E. coli, K. pneumoniae* and *Salmonella* showed that the fimbrial shaft imposes conformational constraints and thus modulates the binding specificity of fimbriae [32]. FimH adhesin alone is capable of binding to a broad range of mannosides. This observation may be responsible for the tissue tropism observed for the various type 1 fimbriated pathogens [33].

### 4 P Fimbriae

P-fimbriated uropathogenic *E. coli* strains are linked to the more serious urinary tract infections. The adhesin PapG of P-fimbriated uropathogenic *E. coli* strains in contrast to the adhesin FimH of type 1 fimbriae is specific for glycosphingolipids of the globo series namely globotriaosylceramide (GbO3), globotetraosylceramide (GbO4) and Forssman antigen (GbO5). These bacteria bind to the galabiose Galα4Gal disaccharide when it is present either at the nonreducing position or at an internal one of such glycolipids. There are three different alleles of PapG

(PapGI, II and III) which bind with different specificities to different receptor isotypes. PapG1 binds favourably to the human urinary bladder whereas PapGII and GIII favour colonization of the human and dog kidney, respectively [18, 21]. The recently determined crystal structure of PapGII adhesin bound to a galabiose-containing ligand not only reveals the molecular basis for the tropism conferred by the PapGII adhesin but also suggests a plausible model that accounts for the tropism conferred by PapGII [21].

## 5 S Fimbriae

The members of the S-fimbrial family differ in their receptor specificities. S-fimbrial adhesin Sfa-S recognize  $\alpha$ -sialyl-2-3- $\beta$ -lactose-containing receptors and are predominantly expressed by strains which cause sepsis and meningitis but also by urinary tract infection (UTI) isolates [34, 35]. Their binding to brain glycolipids has also been demonstrated [36]. In contrast, the F1C-fimbrial adhesin binds with a high affinity to  $\beta$ -GalNAc-1, 4- $\beta$ -Gal containing glycolipid and is preferentially expressed by urinary tract infection (UTI) isolates [23].

## 6 Other Adhesins of Gram-Negative Bacteria

Furthermore, bacteria specifically binding to other carbohydrate receptors have also been described (Table 1). For example, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, a genital pathogen binds to *N*-acetyllactosamine (Galβ4GlcNAc, LacNAc). *Helicobacter pylori*, the causative agent of peptic ulcer, expresses several lectins with distinct binding specificities [37, 38]. Some of them recognize NeuAc( $\alpha$ 2–3)Galβ4Glc(Sia3Lac) and its *N*-acetylglucosamine analog (Sia3LacNAc) while others are specific for the Le<sup>b</sup> determinant Fuc $\alpha$ 2Galβ3[Fuc $\alpha$ 4]GlcNAc. The adhesins of enterotoxigenic *E. coli* K99 and F17G of F17 fimbriae bind to glycolipids containing *N*-glycolylneuraminic acid (NeuGc) and *N*-acetylglucosamine receptors on the microvilli of the intestine of ruminants, respectively. The high resolution crystal structure of the lectin domain of F17-G in complex with *N*-acetylglucosamine revealed that the monosaccharide is bound on the side of the ellipsoid-shaped protein in a site conserved in all natural variations of F17-G [20].

## 7 Adhesins of Gram-Positive Bacteria

Similar to the Gram-negative bacteria, Gram-positive bacteria also express a great variety of factors that enable these micro-organisms to adhere to host cell structures on cell surfaces. Most of these are proteins binding to proteinacous partners.

Prominent examples are matrix-binding proteins called MSCRAMMS (microbial surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecules). These proteins bind to extracellular matrix proteins such as fibronectin, collagen, vitronectin, laminin and others [39]. Many of these adhesins play an important role in pathogenesis of Grampositive pathogens. In contrast to the extensive work on protein–protein interactions between adhesins of Gram-positive bacteria and host surfaces, less is known about binding of Gram-positive bacterial adhesins to carbohydrate structures.

## 8 Adhesins of Streptococcus

One of the best studied carbohydrate binding adhesins of Gram-positive bacteria is expressed by *Streptococcus suis* strains. This bacterium causes meningitis, septicemia, and pneumonia in pigs and also in humans [40]. *S. suis* recognizes galactose containing glycolipids with specificity to the disaccharide Gal $\alpha$ 1–4Gal sequences present, e.g. in P blood group antigens. Moreover, experimental binding to pharyngeal tissue of pigs could be inhibited by trihexosylceramide (GbO3) indicating that the glycolipid may function as a receptor for galactose-binding strains of *S. suis* in pig pharyngeal epithelium [41, 42]. Two variant adhesins, inhibitable by galactose and *N*-acetylgalactosamine (type PN) or galactose only (type Po) have been described. Both prefer binding of the disaccharide in a terminal position [43, 44]. Surprisingly, on *S. suis*, no fimbriae have been observed, so it is likely that the adhesins of *S. suis* are afimbrial ones.

Streptococcus gordonii and related species of the viridans group are major components of the human oral microflora. These organisms play prominent roles as pioneer colonizers in the development of dental plaque [45]. In addition to colonizing surfaces in the human oral cavity, viridans streptococci cause infective endocarditis. The sialic acid-binding adhesins Hsa and GspB of S. gordonii have been shown to bind sialoglycoproteins on the platelet surface. The sialoglycoprotein receptors were identified as platelet glycoprotein Ib  $\alpha$  (GPIb $\alpha$ ) and glycoprotein IIb (GPIIb) [46, 47]. GspB and Hsa are serine-rich surface glycoproteins that consist of an *N*-terminal putative signal peptide, a short basic amino acid-rich region, a longer serine-rich region and a C-terminal cell wall anchoring domain. Binding assays with fusion proteins of the basic amino acid-rich region to a panel of oligosaccharides revealed that the basic amino acid-rich region BR of Hsa can bind both  $\alpha(2-3)$ sialyllactosamine [NeuAc $\alpha$ (2-3)Gal $\beta$ (1-4)GlcNAc] and sialyl-T antigen [NeuAc $\alpha$ (2-3)Gal $\beta$ (1-3)GalNAc], whereas the BR of GspB only binds sialyl-T antigen [47]. GspB facilitates binding to carbohydrates bearing sialic acid in either  $\alpha$ [2–3) or  $\alpha$ (2–6) linkages, with a slight preference for  $\alpha$ (2–3) linkages [46].

Another member of the viridans streptococci, *S. mutans*, plays an important role in the formation of dental caries and binds tightly to tooth surfaces. The bacterium is capable of binding salivary components such as salivary agglutinin. It has been shown that *S. mutans* can bind to Lewis antigen carbohydrate epitopes containing fucose residues that are present on salivary agglutinin [48].

Streptococcus pneumoniae is a major cause of pneumonia, otitis media, meningitis, and septicemia resulting in the death of more than 1 million people every year. Various virulence determinants of pneumococci have been described including the highly variable polysaccharide capsule, pneumolysin toxin, and carbohydrate binding proteins. For example, binding of S. pneumoniae to respiratory cells can be inhibited by sialyted oligosaccharides containing the pentasaccharide NeuAc( $\alpha$ -3) Galβ4GlcNAcβ3Galβ4Glc, as well as with the corresponding internal tetra- and trisaccharides Gal\u00e4GlcNAc\u00e43Gal\u00e4Glc and GlcNAc\u00e43Gal\u00e44Glc, respectively [49]. Interestingly, sialylated oligosaccharides and glycoproteins at concentrations in the millimolar range block adherence of S. pneumoniae to epithelial cells of the upper respiratory tract, thereby reducing the load of colonizing organisms and diminishing the risk of infection. Moreover, in a rabbit model of pneumonia, NeuAc $\alpha$ 2-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc protected against infection by S. pneumoniae, and in an infant rat model, also reduced nasopharyngeal colonization by S. pneumoniae [50]. Thus, the use of orally or nasally administered oligosaccharides as prophylactic and/or therapeutic agents to promote clearance of S. pneumoniae from the nasopharyngeal mucosa may be applied as a strategy of reducing the risk of developing otitis media, meningitis or pneumonia.

Older reports deal with the binding of Gram-positive and Gram-negative pathogens involved in lung infections of cystic fibrosis patients and pneumonia such as Staphylococcus aureus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Haemophilus influenzae, Streptococcus pneumoniae, and Klebsiella pneumoniae. These pathogens bind specifically to fucosylasialo-GM1 (Fuc $\alpha$ 1-2Gal $\beta$ 1-3GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4Gal $\beta$ 1-1Cer), asialo-GM1 (Gal\beta1-3GalNAc\beta1-4Gal\beta1-4Glc\beta1-1Cer), and asialo-GM2 (GalNA  $c\beta_{1-4}Gal\beta_{1-4}Glc\beta_{1-1}Cer)$  present on the surface of lung tissues [51]. The investigated pathogens do not bind to galactosylceramide, glucosylceramide, lactosylceramide, trihexosylceramide, globoside, paragloboside, or glycosphingolipids including the gangliosides GM1, GM2, GM3, GD1a, GD1b, GT1b, and Cad. The authors concluded that the tested bacteria require at least terminal or internal asialo GalNAc $\beta$ 1–4Gal sequences. This observation may be of biological relevance as substantial amounts of asialo-GM1 occur in human lung tissue [51]. However, additional work has to be done to characterize the significance of these binding properties for the pathogenesis of lung infections. Furthermore, it is not known which adhesive proteins are involved in the described Gram-positive pathogencarbohydrate interaction.

## 9 Adhesins of Staphylococcus

Gram-positive opportunistic pathogens such as *Staphylococcus epidermidis*, *S. aureus, E. faecalis and E. faecium* have the capacity to form biofilms on foreign medical devices such as catheters, and surgical implants [52, 53]. These microorganisms are normal inhabitants of healthy humans, in recent years, however, the bacteria emerged as a common cause of nosocomial infections [54]. Interestingly,

the capacity of staphylococci to form thick multilayered biofilms on polymer and metal surfaces is associated mostly with the synthesis of an extracellular polysaccharide the so-called polysaccharide intercellular adhesin (PIA) [55]. The enzymes involved in PIA production are encoded by the *icaADBC* operon [56]. The *icaADBC* genes are more prevalent in *S. epidermidis* strains from device-associated infections than in commensal isolates suggesting an important role of polysaccharide interactions in pathogenic *S. epidermidis* strains [57]. Biofilm-positive bacteria are less susceptible against the action of antibiotics and are shielded from the host immune system. The polysaccharide PIA is a linear  $\beta$ -1,6-linked glucosaminoglycan that is essential for intercellular adhesin and biofilm accumulation of many *S. epidermidis* clinical isolates [58]. That PIA mediates also adherence to host structures is not known, however, it is tempting to speculate about this.

## **10** Implication in Antimicrobial Activity

The examples discussed above impressively show the diversity and importance of interaction between bacterial adhesion determinants and carbohydrate-containing receptor molecules. Pathogenic bacteria use binding to carbohydrates in different disease stages. However, many questions remain to be answered to unravel the full spectrum of bacteria–host interactions via carbohydrate binding.

Nevertheless, anti-adhesion strategies based on interference of pathogen-host interaction by carbohydrates represents an attractive approach in antimicrobial therapy. This concept may especially be promising as antimicrobial resistance is becoming a global health problem. Specific inhibition of adhesion properties should apply less selective pressure on pathogens therefore avoiding rapid resistance development. However, microorganisms use multiple adhesion factors, thus several structures have to be targeted for efficient inhibition of adhesion to host tissues. Moreover, many inhibitors of protein–carbohydrate interaction show only relatively low affinity, this is true at least for monovalent inhibitors. The development of improved multivalent ligands with higher affinity is one principle to increase the efficacy of anti-adhesion therapy. For in vivo application the size and polarity of such ligands may be problematic, therefore topical applications such as in the intestine or lung may have the highest potential for therapeutical use.

## **11 Final Reflections**

Fimbrial adhesins may be visualized by electron microscopy. However, the processing for analysis by electron microscopy might cause alterations of the specimens, e.g. by dehydration. This might result in the collapse of certain fimbriae. Therefore, despite no fimbriae are visible by electron microscopy the "afimbrial" adhesins of the Dr family, e.g. AfaE of diarrheagenic and uropathogenic *E. coli* in fact assemble into flexible fibers with the AfaD at the tip, which is an invasin [59]. This example also shows that fimbriae are often multi purpose tools. Obviously, they not only mediate adherence but function also as invasins for uptake into host cells and activate host proteases in order to cross host barriers, i.e. the blood-brain-barrier [60]. The later might be achieved by immobilization of plasminogen and tissue-type plasminogen activator on S and type 1 fimbriae [61].

Other adhesins of *E. coli* as antigen 43, AIDA-I, TibA and intimin of enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* are true afimbrial adhesins i.e. they are integral outer membrane proteins. However, also intimin seems to be involved in invasion of host cells [62, 63]. Intimin, which is actually a whole family of adhesins, is the only example of an adhesion that uses a protein (Tir: translocated intimin receptor) in the host cell membrane, that is a bacterial protein inserted into the host by the bacterial type 3 protein secretion system [64].

At least some adhesins bind to more than one receptor. Intimin might not only bind to Tir but also to  $\beta 1$  containing integrins as well as to nucleolin [65]. The Dr adhesin recognizes not just the short consensus repeat domain as all members of the Dr family of adhesins but also type IV collagen, which is a critical step in renal persistence [66].

Besides fimbrial and afimbrial adhesins, there are other surface structures that act as adhesins. For example, in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* the major flagellar protein flagellin was identified as the adhesin responsible for binding to Muc 1 mucin [67].

In summary, bacterial adherence is not just mediated by one bacterial surface structure interacting with one host receptor. Rather, adherence is a process involving several bacterial and host cell components which interact in a temporal and special order. Interference with these processes in order to block infection will not be an easy task [68].

### References

- 1. Hacker J, Carniel E (2001) Ecological fitness, genomic islands and bacterial pathogenicity. A Darwinian view of the evolution of microbes. EMBO Rep 2:376–381
- 2. Hochhut B, Dobrindt U, Hacker J (2006) The contribution of pathogenecity islands to the evolution of bacterial pathogens. ASM Press, Washington
- Nougayrede JP, Homburg S, Taieb F et al. (2006) *Escherichia coli* induces DNA double-strand breaks in eukaryotic cells. Science 313:848–851
- 4. Ofek I, Hasty DL, Doyle JRJ (2003) Bacterial adhesion to animal cells and tissues. ASM Press, Washington
- 5. Dobrindt U, Hochhut B, Hentschel U, Hacker J (2004) Genomic islands in pathogenic and environmental microorganisms. Nat Rev Microbiol 2:414–424
- 6. Sharon N, Lis H (1989) Lectins as cell recognition molecules. Science 246:227-234
- 7. Sharon N, Lis H (2003) Lectins, 2nd edn. Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht
- Khan AS, Schifferli DM (1994) A minor 987P protein different from the structural fimbrial subunit is the adhesin. Infect Immun 62:4233–4243
- Khan AS, Johnston NC, Goldfine H et al. (1996) Porcine 987P glycolipid receptors on intestinal brush borders and their cognate bacterial ligands. Infect Immun 64:3688–3693

- Yuyama Y, Yoshimatsu K, Ono E et al. (1993) Postnatal change of pig intestinal ganglioside bound by *Escherichia coli* with K99 fimbriae. J Biochem 113:488–492
- Gornik O, Dumic J, Flögel M et al. (2006) Glycoscience a new frontier in rational drug design. Acta Pharm 56:19–30
- Schulze IT (1975) The biologically active proteins of influenza virus: the hemagglutinin. In: Kilbourne ED (ed) The influenza viruses and influenza. Academic Press, New York, pp 53–82
- Lefkowitz SS, Lefkowitz DL (1999) Macrophage candidicidal activity of a complete glyconutritional formulation verses aloe polymannose. Proc Fisher Inst Med Res 1:5–7
- Cao Z, Jefferson DM, Panjwani N (1998) Role of carbohydrate mediated adherence in cytopathogenic mechanism of *Acanthamoeba*. J Biol Chem 273:15838–15845
- Choudhury D, Thompson A, Stojanoff V et al. (1999) X-ray structure of the FimC–FimH chaperone-adhesin complex from uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Science 285:1061–1066
- Dupres V, Menozzi FD, Locht C et al. (2005) Nanoscale mapping and functional analysis of individual adhesins on living bacteria. Nat Methods 2:515–520
- Hacker J, Bender L, Ott M et al. (1990) Deletion of chromosomal regions coding for fimbriae and hemolysins occur *in vitro* and *in vivo* in various extraintestinal *Escherichia coli* isolates. Microb. Pathogenesis 8:213–225
- Stromberg N, Marklund B-I, Lund B et al. (1990) Host-specificity of uropathogenic *Escherichia* coli depends on differences in binding specificity to Galα 1–4Gal-containing isoreceptors. EMBO 9:2001–2010
- Sharon N (2006) Carbohydrates as future anti-adhesion drugs for infectious diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta 1760:527–537
- Buts L, Bouckaert J, De Genst E et al. (2003) The fimbrial adhesin F17-G of enterotoxigenic *E. coli* has an immunoglobulin like lectin domain that binds *N*-acetylglucosamine. Mol Microbiol 49:705–715
- 21. Dodson KW, Pinkner JS, Rose T et al. (2001) Structural basis of the interaction of the pyelonephritic *E. coli* adhesin to its human kidney receptor. Cell 105:733–743
- Sung MA, Fleming K, Chen HA et al. (2001) The solution structure of PapGII from uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* and its recognition of glycolipid receptors. EMBO Rep 2:621–627
- Khan AS, Kniep B, Oelschlaeger TA et al. (2000) Receptor structure for F1C fimbriae of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Infect Immun 68:3541–3547
- 24. Jones CH, Pinkner JS, Roth R et al. (1995) FimH adhesin of type 1 pili is assembled into a fibrillar tip structure in the Enterobacteriaceae. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:2081–2085
- Ponniah S, Endres RO, Hasty DL et al. (1991) Fragmentation of *Escherichia coli* type 1 fimbriae exposes cryptic D-mannose-binding sites. J Bacteriol 173:4195–4202
- 26. Sokurenko EV, Chesnokova V, Dykhuizen DE et al. (1998) Pathogenic adaptation of *Escherichia coli* by natural variation of the FimH adhesin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:8922–8926
- 27. Sharon N (1987) Bacterial lectins, cell-cell recognition and infectious disease. FEBS Lett 217:145–157
- Firon N, Ofek I, Sharon N (1983) Carbohydrate specificity of the surface lectins of *Escherichia* coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae, and Salmonella typhimurium. Carbohydr Res 120:235–249
- 29. Firon N, Ofek I, Sharon N (1984) Carbohydrate-binding sites of the mannose-specific fimbrial lectins of enterobacteria. Infect Immun 43:1088–1090
- Hung CS, Bouckaert J, Hung D et al. (2002) Structural basis of tropism of *Escherichia coli* to the bladder during urinary tract infection. Mol Microbiol 44:903–915
- Bouckaert J, Berglund J, Schembri M et al. (2005) Receptor binding studies disclose a novel class of high-affinity inhibitors of the *Escherichia coli* FimH adhesin. Mol Microbiol 55:441–455
- 32. Duncan MJ, Mann EL, Cohen MS et al. (2005) The distinct binding specificities exhibited by enterobacterial type 1 fimbriae are determined by their fimbrial shafts. J Biol Chem 280: 37707–37716
- Pieters RJ (2007) Intervention with bacterial adhesion by multivalent carbohydrates. Med Res Rev 27:796–816

- Korhonen TK, Väisänen-Rhen V, Rhen M et al. (1984) *Escherichia coli* fimbriae recognizing sialyl galactosides. J Bacteriol 159:762–766
- 35. Korhonen TK, Valtonen MV, Parkkinen J et al. (1985) Serotypes, hemolysin production, and receptor recognition of *Escherichia coli* strains associated with neonatal sepsis and meningitis. Infect Immun 48:486–491
- Prasadarao NV, Wass CA, Hacker J et al. (1993) Adhesion of S-fimbriated *Escherichia coli* to brain glycolipids mediated by *sfaA* gene-encoded protein of S-fimbriae J Biol chem 268:10356–10363
- Karlsson KA (1998) Meaning and therapeutic potential of microbial recognition of host glycoconjugates. Mol Microbiol 29:1–11
- Roche N, Angstrom J, Hurtig M et al. (2004) *Helicobacter pylori* and complex gangliosides. Infect Immun 72:1519–1529
- Patti JM, Allen BL, McGavin MJ et al. (1994) MSCRAMM-mediated adherence of microorganisms to host tissues. Annu Rev Microbiol 48:585–617
- Lun, ZR, Wang, QP, Chen, XG et al. (2007) Streptococcus suis: an emerging zoonotic pathogen. Lancet Infect Dis 7:201–209
- Haataja S, Tikkanen K, Liukkonen J et al. (1993) Characterization of a novel bacterial adhesion specificity of *Streptococcus suis* recognizing blood group P receptor oligosaccharides. J Biol Chem 268:4311–4317
- 42. Haataja S, Tikkanen K, Nilsson U et al. (1994) Oligosaccharide-receptor interaction of the Gal alpha 1–4Gal binding adhesin of *Streptococcus suis*. Combining site architecture and characterization of two variant adhesin specificities. J Biol Chem 269:27466–27472
- 43. Haataja S, Tikkanen K, Hytonen J et al. (1996) The Galα 1-4 Gal-binding adhesin of Streptococcus suis, a Gram-positive meningitis-associated bacterium. Adv Exp Med Biol 408:25–34
- 44. Tikkanen, K, Haataja, S, Francois-Gerard, C et al. (1995) Purification of a galactosyl-alpha 1-4galactose-binding adhesin from the Gram-positive meningitis-associated bacterium *Streptococcus* suis. J Biol Chem 270:28874–28878
- 45. Takamatsu D, Bensing BA, Prakobphol A et al (2006) Binding of the streptococcal surface glycoproteins GspB and Hsa to human salivary proteins. Infect Immun 74:1933–1940
- 46. Bensing BA, Gibson BW, Sullam PM (2004) The Streptococcus gordonii platelet binding protein GspB undergoes glycosylation independently of export. J Bacteriol 186:638–645
- 47. Takamatsu, D, Bensing, BA, Cheng, H et al. (2005) Binding of the *Streptococcus gordonii* surface glycoproteins GspB and Hsa to specific carbohydrate structures on platelet membrane glycoprotein Ibalpha. Mol Microbiol 58:380–392
- 48. Ligtenberg AJ, Veerman EC, Nieuw Amerongen AV (2000) A role for Lewis a antigens on salivary agglutinin in binding to *Streptococcus mutans*. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 77:21–30
- Barthelson R, Mobasseri A, Zopf D et al. (1998) Adherence of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* to respiratory epithelial cells is inhibited by sialylated oligosaccharides. Infect Immun 66: 1439–1444
- 50. Idanpaan-Heikkila I, Simon PM, Zopf D et al. (1997) Oligosaccharides interfere with the establishment and progression of experimental pneumococcal pneumonia. J Infect Dis 176:704–712
- 51. Krivan HC, Roberts DD, Ginsburg V (1988) Many pulmonary pathogenic bacteria bind specifically to the carbohydrate sequence GalNAcβ1-4Gal found in some glycolipids. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:6157–6161
- Costerton, JW, Stewart, PS, Greenberg, EP (1999) Bacterial biofilms: a common cause of persistent infections. Science 284:1318–1322
- 53. Goetz F (2002) Staphylococcus and biofilms. Mol Microbiol 43:1367–1378
- Ohlsen K, Lorenz U (2007) Novel targets for antibiotics in *Staphylococcus aureus*. Future Microbiol 2:655–666
- Mack D, Becker P, Chatterjee I et al. (2004) Mechanisms of biofilm formation in *Staphylococcus* epidermidis and *Staphylococcus aureus*: functional molecules, regulatory circuits, and adaptive responses. Int J Med Microbiol 294:203–212
- 56. Heilmann C, Schweitzer O, Gerke C et al. (1996) Molecular basis of intercellular adhesion in the biofilm-forming *Staphylococcus epidermidis*. Mol Microbiol 20:1083–1091

- 57. Kozitskaya S, Cho SH, Dietrich K et al. (2004) The bacterial insertion sequence element IS256 occurs preferentially in nosocomial *Staphylococcus epidermidis* isolates: association with biofilm formation and resistance to aminoglycosides. Infect Immun 72:1210–1215
- Mack D, Fischer W, Krokotsch A et al. (1996) The intercellular adhesin involved in biofilm accumulation of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* is a linear beta-1,6-linked glucosaminoglycan: purification and structural analysis. J Bacteriol 178:175–183
- Anderson KL, Billington J, Pettigrew D et al. (2004) An atomic resolution model for assembly, architecture, and function of the Dr adhesins. Mol Cell 15:647–657
- 60. Oelschlaeger TA (2001) Adhesins as invasins. Int J Med Microbiol 291:7-14
- 61. Korhonen TK, Virkola R, Lähteenmäki K et al. (1992) Penetration of fimbriated enteric bacteria through basement membranes: a hypothesis. FEMS Microbiol Lett 79:307–312
- 62. Hernandes RT, Silva RM, Carneiro SM et al. (2008) The localized adherence pattern of an typical enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* is mediated by intimin micron and unexpectedly promotes HeLa cell invasion. Cell Microbiol 10:415–425
- Jepson MA, Pellegrin S, Peto L et al. (2003) Synergistic roles for the Map and Tir effector molecules in mediating uptake of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC) into non-phagocytic cells. Cell Microbiol 5:773–783
- 64. DeVinney R, Gauthier A, Abe A et al. (1999) Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*: a pathogen that inserts its own receptor into host cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 55:961–976
- 65. Sinclair JF, Dean-Nystrom EA, O'Brien AD (2006) The established intimin receptor Tir and the putative eucaryotic intimin receptors nucleolin and  $\beta$  1 integrin localize at or near the site of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 adherence to enterocytes in vivo. Infect Immun 74:1255–1265
- 66. Selvarangan R, Goluszko P, Singhal J et al. (2004) Interaction of Dr adhesin with collagen type IV is a critical step in *Escherichia coli* renal persistence. Infect Immun 72:4827–4835
- Lillehoj EP, Kim BT, Kim KC (2002) Identification of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* flagellin as an adhesin for Muc1 mucin. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 282:L751–L756
- Soto GE, Hultgren SJ (1999) Bacterial adhesins: common themes and variations in architecture and assembly. J Bacteriol 181:1059–1071